NO. 44523-9-II

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

## STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DERRICK THOMAS,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Kathryn J. Nelson, Judge

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JENNIFER J. SWEIGERT Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

## **

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court violated appellant's constitutional right to a public trial by conducting peremptory challenges in private.

2. The court erred in failing to suppress appellant's statements to a Department of Corrections officer made without benefit of <u>Miranda<sup>1</sup></u> warnings while appellant was handcuffed in the back of a patrol car.

The court erred in finding appellant, on a separate occasion,
 told an officer where he lived after being advised of his right to silence. CP
 82 (Finding of Fact 5).

4. The trial court erred in finding appellant knowingly and voluntarily waived his <u>Miranda</u> rights. CP 82 (Conclusion of Law 2).

5. The prosecutor committed misconduct when, in closing argument, he repeatedly referred to what "we know," thereby expressing a personal opinion on guilt, placing the prestige of his office in play, and unfairly aligning himself with the jury against appellant.

6. The court erred in denying appellant's motion to dismiss the possession of cocaine charge under CrR 4.3.1's mandatory joinder provision.

7. Appellant's possession of cocaine conviction in the second trial violates double jeopardy because the prosecutor abandoned the charge in the first trial under circumstances indicating a lack of evidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966).

8. The court erred in imposing a one-year suspended sentence on the misdemeanor charges when the statutory maximum is 364 days.

#### **Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error**

1. Jury selection was not open to the public because peremptory challenges were exercised by silently passing a piece of paper back and forth. Because the trial court did not analyze the <u>Bone-Club<sup>2</sup></u> factors before conducting this important portion of voir dire in private, did the trial court violate appellant's constitutional right to a public trial?

2. At the direction of a Department of Corrections officer, police stopped appellant for driving with a suspended license. The Corrections officer arrived on the scene and questioned appellant, who was handcuffed and sitting the back of a patrol car at the time. The officer did not advise appellant of his constitutional rights. Is reversal required where appellant's conviction rests in part on appellant's answers to the officer's questions?

3. An officer who arrested appellant on a prior occasion testified appellant indicated where he lived before he was detained and read his rights. The court's written findings state appellant made the statements after voluntarily waiving his <u>Miranda</u> rights. Should the findings be reversed for lack of evidence in the record?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 629 (1995).

4. In closing argument, the prosecutor repeatedly referred to what "we know" about the case. Did the prosecutor unfairly align himself with the jury, invite the jury to consider the prestige of his office, and offer a personal opinion on guilt, thereby committing misconduct and violating appellant's right to a fair trial?

5. The State originally charged appellant with unlawful possession of a firearm and two misdemeanors. Two months before the first trial, the State amended the information to add a charge of possession of cocaine found in the same search as the firearm. The State presented instructions only on the original charges. After the jury failed to reach a verdict on the firearms charge, the State again amended the information to charge possession of cocaine and appellant was convicted in the second trial. Must the possession of cocaine conviction be reversed and dismissed under CrR 3.4.1 because it was not presented to the jury in the first trial?

6. Under <u>Downum v. United States</u>,<sup>3</sup> when the state dismisses a charge before it is submitted to the jury out of lack of preparedness or a fear that the evidence will be insufficient, re-trial on that charge violates the double jeopardy right to a determination by a given tribunal. Was double jeopardy violated when the prosecutor did not submit the cocaine

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>Downum v. United States</u> 372 U.S. 734, 735, 83 S. Ct. 1033, 10 L. Ed. 2d 100 (1963).

possession charge to the jury in the first trial but waited until additional evidence came to light before the second trial?

7. Sentencing authority derives entirely from statute. The statutory maximum sentence for misdemeanors is 364 days. Did the court err in imposing a suspended sentence of one year?

#### B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

#### 1. <u>Procedural Facts</u>

The Pierce County prosecutor charged appellant Derrick Thomas with unlawful possession of a firearm, violation of a protection order, and driving with a suspended license in the third degree on July 16, 2012. CP 1-3. On October 15, 2012, the court denied Thomas' motion to suppress the evidence and dismiss the charges. RP 118. On October 16, 2012, the prosecutor filed, in open court, an amended information adding a charge of possession of cocaine, and Thomas was arraigned on the additional charge. RP 149. The proceedings were then recessed for nearly two months. RP 146. The amended information was not actually filed with the clerk's office or listed in the computer record until January 2013.<sup>4</sup> RP 1133.

When the trial resumed in December 2012, the parties referred to the clerk's office computer records and, not seeing an amended information,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Several months after trial, the court convened a hearing at which the parties clarified what had happened with the first amended information and the changes the clerk's office had made to the record. RP 1133-35. The attorneys and the judge were present, but Thomas was not. RP 1135. His attorney had withdrawn when the notice of appeal was filed. RP 1140.

proceeded to trial only on the three original charges. RP 1137. Defense counsel, who recalled the arraignment, mentioned it to the prosecutor, who assured her the State had opted not to move forward with that charge. RP 1138-39.

The jury convicted Thomas of violating the protection order and driving with a suspended license, but could not agree on the unlawful possession of a firearm charge. CP 76-78; RP 657-66. At defense counsel's request, the court declared a mistrial as to that charge. RP 657-66.

The State immediately declared it would retry Thomas, and trial was set for January 8, 2013. RP 667. On January 17, 2013, defense counsel asked a colleague to cover what she believed to be a routine continuance because she had the flu. RP 685, 691-92. Instead, Thomas was arraigned on an amended information, adding a charge of possession of cocaine and alleging Thomas was subject to a firearm sentencing enhancement. CP 79-80; RP 685. This was actually the second amended information, and the clerk's office later re-titled it as such, although at the time, it appears neither the parties nor the court realized this. RP 1134.

Upon her recovery, defense counsel objected to the amended information under the mandatory joinder rule and asked the court to dismiss the new charge. RP 691-94. Although she agreed she was not entirely surprised, she argued Thomas was being penalized for his success at the first trial. RP 712. The court found no prejudice and permitted the amendment. RP 712. At the second trial, the jury found Thomas guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm and possession of cocaine. CP 133-34. The jury rejected the firearm enhancement. CP 135.

On the misdemeanors from the first trial, the court imposed a oneyear sentence suspended on conditions of time already served. CP 87-90. On the unlawful possession of a firearm charge, the court imposed a standard range sentence of 40 months, with an 18-month standard range sentence on the drug charge to run concurrently. CP 172. Notice of appeal was timely filed. CP 162.

#### 2. <u>Substantive Facts</u>

On July 14, 2012, Thomas was released from jail after serving time for a community custody violation. RP 18, 49. The address registered with the Department of Corrections was his mother's home on South Hosmer. RP 43. But, having received a tip that Thomas might actually be living elsewhere, Officer Grabski from the Department of Corrections staked out the house at 4840 South I Street where Thomas' girlfriend and children lived. RP 18, 30, 66. That evening, he saw Thomas arrive by car and go in and out of the house without knocking. RP 824-28, 841. After Thomas left, Grabski called Tacoma Police and Pierce County Sheriffs and asked them to pull Thomas over for driving with a suspended license. RP 828. When Grabski arrived and questioned him, Thomas denied living at 4840 South I. RP 829. He admitted he had just come from there, had a key, and kept some personal belongings there. RP 829.

Believing Thomas to be in violation of his community custody, Grabski, along with Tacoma Police and Pierce County Sheriffs, searched the house. RP 832, 951. They found a loaded shotgun and a small baggie of cocaine in the master bedroom. RP 834-36, 839, 954, 969. They also found court documents, Department of Corrections release documents dated that day, as well as a credit card and receipt, all in Thomas' name. RP 837-38, 954-68. The main issue at trial was whether Thomas lived there or had dominion and control over the premises sufficient to show constructive possession.

Officer Gutierrez testified that, on an earlier occasion, Thomas had pointed to the house at 4840 South I in answer to a question about where he lived. RP 815-17. An officer also relayed Thomas' girlfriend's contradictory statements about whether he lived in the house with her and the children. RP 951.

The jury also heard phone calls made on Thomas' jail booking number, in which a man tells a woman he does not want them to know where he lives, so he would give his mother's address and only come home later in the evening. Ex. 23 (call on 7/8/2012 at 9:43). The man also

-7-

inquires whether his pills have been dropped off and whether everything has been put away. Ex. 23 (call on 7/1/2012 at 10:09). The female voice assures him he has pills and everything has been put away and safely locked up. <u>Id.</u>; Ex. we (calls on 6/28/2012 at 4:48 and 6/25/2012 at 7:08). The jury also heard a call on Thomas' account in which he appears to tell a man they came "to my house," and then corrects himself referring to it as "my baby mama's house." Ex. 23 (call on 7/7/2012 at 7:59).

#### a. <u>Search of Home</u>

Grabski is a Corrections officer charged with seeking out probation violators. RP 10-11. On July 11, 2012, he heard from a colleague in the Pierce County Sheriff's Office that Thomas might be living not at his registered address, but at a house used by a local gang to stash firearms and illegal drugs. RP 15-16, 44-45. Grabski did not know where the deputy got this information. RP 38.

He learned from his partner that Thomas had given the 4840 South I address when he was arrested in June. RP 16, 57-58, 72. He also verified Thomas was on active supervision and his driver's license was suspended. RP 20, 43-45.

The evening of the day Thomas was released, Grabski parked outside the house at 4840 South I. RP 18-19. He saw a car pull up and saw Thomas get out. RP 19. He saw Thomas enter the house without knocking. RP 21. A few minutes later, Thomas came back out, got in the car, and drove away. RP 21.

Later that evening, the same car returned. RP 23. Thomas, a woman, and two children got out got out and went in the house. RP 23-24. Then Thomas came out again and drove away again. RP 24-25. At this point, Grabski asked colleagues from Tacoma Police and the Pierce County Sheriffs to stop Thomas for driving with a suspended license. RP 25, 54.

When Grabski arrived at the traffic stop, Thomas was handcuffed and in the patrol car. RP 25, 61. Grabski did not advise Thomas of his constitutional rights to silence or an attorney. RP 28-29. Grabski asked him whether he lived at 4840 South I. RP 25-27. Thomas denied living at the house but said he kept some property there and had a key. RP 29-30, 63.

Grabski then accompanied Thomas and the other officers back to the house to search. RP 30. The woman who answered the door said Thomas was her boyfriend and they had children together. RP 66, 84. She told officers Thomas did not live there, but kept some of his things there. RP 66. Grabski testified they searched the entire house except the children's bedrooms. RP 31, 70. He did not check the mailbox because he was looking for guns and drugs. RP 68-69.

The court denied Thomas' motion to suppress, finding probable cause to believe Thomas lived at the house in violation of his community

-9-

custody conditions. CP 85. In its oral ruling, the court clarified that that even if Thomas did not live at the house, Grabski could search the personal property that Thomas said was there. RP 118.

#### b. June Statements

On June 24, 2012, approximately three weeks before Thomas was arrested in this case, Officer Gutierrez arrested Thomas in front of the 4840 house. RP 210. At the pre-trial hearing, Gutierrez testified he was investigating a call from a neighbor. RP 206-08. When he arrived, he approached Thomas and asked where he lived. RP 214. In answer, he testified, Thomas pointed to the house. RP 214.

It was only after this exchange, Gutierrez testified, that he asked Thomas for identification. RP 209-10. Thomas replied that he did not have any. RP 209-10. Gutierrez then asked Thomas for his name and date of birth. RP 209-10. Not believing Thomas' answer, Gutierrez arrested him and read him his rights. RP 210-13. Thomas testified Gutierrez never asked where he lived and he did not tell them or otherwise indicate where he lived. RP 249-50.

In its oral ruling, the court found this was a social contact and there was no need for <u>Miranda</u> warnings when the officer initially approached Thomas. RP 278.

The written findings of fact and conclusions of law state that Thomas was arrested, was read his <u>Miranda</u> rights, and agreed to talk to the officer. CP 82. The findings also state Thomas told the officer he lived at 4840 South I. CP 82. The conclusions of law state that Thomas knowingly and voluntarily waived his <u>Miranda</u> rights. CP 82.

#### c. <u>July Statements</u>

No separate hearing was held to determine the voluntariness of Thomas' statements to Grabski the night he was arrested in this case. However, when Grabski testified at the suppression hearing about Thomas's statements, counsel objected "regarding 3.5 issues." RP 27. The court overruled the objection based on the relaxed evidentiary standards at a suppression hearing. RP 28. Grabski testified he did not read Thomas his <u>Miranda</u> rights before questioning him because it was not a new criminal matter, but instead merely questions about his probation. RP 28-29.

Subsequently, the prosecutor appeared to indicate he would not be

eliciting Thomas' statements to Grabski in July:

I'm not going to be offering any of those statements. I'm going to be eliciting the observation because the question as to what address he provided, Defendant can get up and tell that story. The fact that he said he didn't live there, the defendant can get up and tell that story. The fact that he said he had personal property there, the defendant can tell that story because I'm going to be going into the search... They did a search on the residence because they believed the lived

there. I think that's a res gestae, and I don't think I need to elicit any of his statements.

RP 131.

Before the first trial, the court granted defense a continuing objection to the fruits of the search of the house and all of Thomas' statements. RP 181-82. Thomas argued his statements should be suppressed "because he was seized and detained and questioned." RP 182. Defense counsel clarified her objection was to, "Any statements that were elicited from Mr. Thomas that evening." RP 182. The court summarized, "And I think you've made that clear in your briefing and your previous motion, and you have a standing objection so that, by letting those issues pass in trial, you won't be prevented from renewing them on appeal." RP 182-83.

Before the second trial, defense counsel reminded the court, "As the Court may recall, I objected most heartily to the court's decision...that Grabski did not need to give him any constitutional rights even though he was in custody." RP 720.<sup>5</sup> In both the first and the second trials, the State elicited, in its case in chief, Grabski's testimony that Thomas said he had a key to the house, had just come from there, and kept personal belongings there. RP 327-28, 829.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The record contains no formal ruling on this issue.

#### 3. <u>Peremptory Challenges</u>

At both trials, peremptory challenges were exercised by passing a piece of paper back and forth. In the first trial, the court stated:

At this time, ladies and gentlemen of the jury, the attorneys will be passing back and forth this sheet of paper that Ms. Pierson is picking up and delivering to Mr. Curtis. And they're going to be writing down their peremptory challenges. During this process, the only rule is you have to stay in your seat, although you could stand up and stretch. But we don't want you to move around because, if you start playing musical chairs, we would have more difficulty remembering who answered what to the questions. So if you'd like to speak softly to your neighbor, if you'd like to pull out knitting or a book, please make yourself comfortable. This usually takes about ten minutes.

RP 185-86. The record then reads, "(Peremptory challenges exercised.)" followed by an unreported sidebar. <u>Id.</u> The court then announced, "Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, the lawyers have exercised their peremptory challenges," and called out the numbers of the jurors to be seated for the case. RP 186-87.

The minutes provide little additional information, stating only, "9:44 AM Attorneys work on peremptory challenges 10:03 AM Court reviews peremptory challenges. 10:06 AM Side bar. 10:07 AM Jury is seated and sworn." CP 188. The sheet of paper listing the challenges was filed in the court file. CP 184. The second trial followed an identical procedure, with the court announcing the peremptory challenges would be exercised on paper, and permitting the jury to stretch or talk softly amongst themselves. RP 776-77. The record then indicates, "(Peremptory challenges exercised.)" followed by a sidebar that was not reported. RP 777. Then the court announced the jurors who would be scated. RP 778. The minutes are also virtually identical to the first trial: "11:34 AM Attorneys work on peremptory challenges. 11:49 AM Court review peremptory challenges. 11:51 AM Sidebar. 11:52 AM Jury is seated." CP 203-04 As in the first trial, the Peremptory Challenges document was then filed. CP 200.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### 1. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED THOMAS' RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL BY HEARING PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN PRIVATE.

The public trial right is an "essential cog in the constitutional design of fair trial safeguards." <u>State v. Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d 254, 259, 906 P.2d 325 (1995); U.S. Const. amend. VI;<sup>6</sup> Const. art. I, § 10; Const. Art. I, § 22. This is not to say that court proceedings may never be closed to public view, but a careful procedure must be followed. <u>Bone-Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d at 258-59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Washington's Constitution provides at least as much protection of a defendant's fair trial rights as the Sixth Amendment. <u>State v. Wise</u>, 176 Wn.2d 1, 9, 288 P.3d 1113, 1117 (2012) (quoting <u>Bone–Club</u>, 128 Wn.2d at 260).

Absent consideration, on the record. of the <u>Bone-Club</u> factors, trial closure is structural error requiring reversal. <u>State v. Wise</u>, 176 Wn.2d 1, 13-15, 288 P.3d 1113, 1118 (2012).

Jury selection is a critical part of the trial that must be open to the public. <u>Wise</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 11 (citing <u>Presley v. Georgia</u>, 558 U.S. 209, 130 S. Ct. 721, 724, 175 L. Ed. 2d 675 (2010)). The benefits of public scrutiny that underlie the public trial right are particularly applicable to the exercise of peremptory challenges. <u>State v. Saintcalle</u>, \_\_Wn.2d\_\_, \_\_P.3d\_\_, 2013 WL 3946038 at \*21 (slip op. filed Aug. 1, 2013) (Gonzalez, J., concurring). Courts may not exempt this proceeding from public view by closing the courtroom. Nor may they achieve the same effect by conducting the challenges silently on paper. Thomas' convictions must be reversed because the private exercise of peremptory challenges violated his constitutional right to a public trial.

#### a. <u>Peremptory Challenges Are Part of Voir Dire and</u> <u>Must Be Open to Public Scrutiny.</u>

"The public trial right applies to jury selection." <u>Wise</u>, 176 Wn.2d at 11 (citing <u>Presley</u>, 558 U.S. 209). To determine whether a specific portion of jury selection implicates the public trial right, this Court has applied the "experience and logic" test, adopted in <u>State v. Sublett</u>. <u>State</u> <u>v. Wilson</u>, 174 Wn. App. 328, 337, 298 P.3d 148 (2013) (citing <u>State v.</u> <u>Sublett</u>, 176 Wn.2d 58, 73, 292 P.3d 715, 722 (2012)).

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