COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

DERRICK LAMONT THOMAS, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Kathryn J. Nelson

No. 12-1-02671-0

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JASON RUYF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

Routine biographical questions relevant to community custody compliance are similarly outside *Miranda*'s definition of interrogation

since they have no greater potential to elicit an incriminating response and "a probationer generally has no Fifth Amendment privilege regarding questions relevant to the status of her probation." See United States v. Nieblas, 115 F.3d 703, 705, (9th Cir. 1997) ("A State may require a probationer to appear and discuss matters that affect his probationary status; such a requirement, without more, does not give rise to a self-executing privilege. The result may be different if the questions put to the probationer ... call for answers that would incriminate him in a pending or later criminal prosecution.") (Citing Minnesota v. Murphy, 465 U.S. 420, 429-31, 104 S. Ct. 1136, 79 L. Ed. 2d 409 (1984) ("custody" under Miranda has been "narrowly circumscribed"); see also United States v. Andaverde, 64 F.3d 1305, 1310 (9th Cir. 1995) (probation officers need not issue Miranda warnings in non-custodial meetings).

The questions posed to defendant about his address were not "interrogation" as they did not reasonably elicit an incriminating response. His answer was not likely to directly implicate him in any crime because living at an unauthorized address is not a criminal law violation; rather, it only exposed him to a potential administrative sanction. Like *Walton*, defendant's statement about using the relevant address only became inculpatory when a subsequent event made it relevant to prove constructive possession of contraband that was not the topic of the

challenged interview. 64 Wn. App. at 410, 414, compare with State v. Sargent, 111 Wn.2d 641, 642, 650, 762 P.2d 1127 (1988) (probation officer's question: "did you do it?" interrogation when discussing a conviction pending sentence); State v. Willis, 64 Wn. App. 634, 637, 825 P.2d 357 (1992). Grabski did not interrogate defendant, so the challenged contact did not trigger Miranda's procedural safeguards.³⁰

3. THE CHALLENGED AMBIGUITY IN THE FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS CAN BE RESOLVED THROUGH REVIEW OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ORAL RULING.

"No remand is necessary where ... ambiguous written findings of fact are supplemented by the trial court's oral opinion." *State v. Motherwell*, 114 Wn.2d 353, 358, 788 P.2d 1066 (1990) (citing In re *Personal Restraint of LaBelle*, 107 Wn.2d 196, 219, 728 P.2d 138 (1986);

The admission of the challenged statements was harmless if error. Evidence obtained as a result of a *Miranda* violation is harmless if the reviewing court is satisfied the untainted evidence is so overwhelming as to necessarily result in the challenged verdict. *See State v. Spotted Elk*, 109 Wn. App. 253, 261, 34 P.3d 906 (2001). Any error in the admission of the challenged statements was harmless as cumulative in light of other evidence of defendant's use of the relevant address. 1RP 31-32; 10RP 815-19, 836, 839, 854-55; 11RP 929-32, 949, 969, 976-77, 1001-02; Ex. 23

State v. Holland, 98 Wn.2d 507, 518, 656 P.2d 1056 (1983). ³¹ "[S]o long as no inconsistency exists, [the Court of Appeals] ha[s] held... an appellate court may [also] use the trial court's oral ruling to interpret written findings and conclusions. State v. Bynum, 76 Wn. App. 262, 266, 884 P.2d 10 (1994) (citing State v. Moon, 48 Wn. App. 647, 653, 739 P.2d 1157, review denied, 108 Wn.2d 1029 (1987)). "These rules make sense because the basic reason for requiring written findings and conclusions is to enable the appellate court to review the issues raised on appeal. State v. McGary, 37 Wn. App. 856, 861, 683 P.2d 1125, review denied, 102 Wn.2d 1024 (1984)).

At the hearing held pursuant to CrR 3.5 the trial court unequivocally ruled defendant's challenged statement to Officer Gutierrez regarding his residence was part of the "initial social contact that occurred at the beginning of the interaction between the parties. There was no need at that point to advise the defendant of his *Miranda* warnings....." 4RP

be used to aid in understanding the findings." Interlake Porsche & Audi, Inc., v. Bucholz, 45 Wn. App. 502, 526, 728 P.2d 597 (1986) (citing Bennet Veneer Factors v. Brewer, 73 Wn.2d 849, 853, 441 P.2d 128 (1968)); State v. Jones, 100 Wn. App. 820, 826, 998 P.2d 921 (2000) (citing State v. Hescock, 98 Wn. App. 600, 606, 989 P.2d 1251 (1999)). Even failure to enter findings associated with a hearing held pursuant CrR 3.5 the Court of Appeals does not necessitate reversal of the trial court's rulings where its comprehensive oral ruling is sufficient to allow appellate review. State v. Bynum, 76 Wn. App. 262, 266, 884 P.2d 10 (1994) (citing State v. Smith, 67 Wn. App. 81, 87, 834 P.2d 26 (1992), modified on other grounds, 123 Wn.2d 51, 864 P.2d 1371 (1993); State v. Clark, 46 Wn. App. 856, 859, 732 P.2d 1029, review denied, 108 Wn.2d 1014 (1987)).

278-79. The evidence adduced at the hearing established defendant was *Mirandized* after making the challenged statement. 4RP 213. Gutierrez questioned defendant thereafter. 4RP 223-24.

The challenged findings and conclusions are only ambiguous when chronological order is naturally, *but unnecessarily*, read into their numbering. *See* CP 81-83. For example, finding No. 4 accurately states defendant was *Mirandized*. CP 82; 4RP 213. Finding No. 5 accurately states defendant told the officer he resided at the 4840 South I residence. CP 82; 4RP 214. The chronology of those two events is confused in so much as the event in finding No. 5 occurred before the event in finding No. 4, but their proper sequence is readily established through reference to the record and the court's oral ruling. *See e.g.*, 4RP 203-15, 278-79. The same pattern is present in conclusions No. 1-3. CP 83. Nothing in the written findings and conclusions expressly requires chronological interpretation, so no inconsistency between the written and oral ruling exists. Remand is not necessary.

4. DEFENDANT'S DRUG CONVICTION COMPORTS WITH DOUBLE JEOPARDY AS JEOPARDY ONLY ATTACHED TO THAT OFFENSE IN THE SECOND TRIAL.

"The double jeopardy clauses of the United States and Washington State Constitutions protect a defendant from multiple convictions for the same crime." *State v. Green*, 156 Wn. App. 96, 99, 230 P.3d 654 (2010) (citing U.S. Const. Amend. V; Wash. Const. art. I, § 9; *State v. Tvedt*, 153 Wn.2d 705, 710, 107 P.3d 728 (2005)). Double jeopardy protections are also implicated where the State seeks to subject the defendant to a second trial for the same offense." *Id.* (citing *United States v. Scott*, 437 U.S. 82, 87-88, 98 S. Ct. 2187, 57 L. Ed. 2d 65 (1978)). "Retrial is barred where jeopardy has attached and terminated." *State v. Wright*, 165 Wn.2d 783, 813, 203 P.3d 1027 (2009).

"Jeopardy attaches to charges pending when the jury is empaneled and sworn." *Id.* (citing Crist v. Bertz, 437 U.S. 28, 35, 98 S. Ct. 2156, 57 L. Ed. 2d 24 (1978)); Green v. United States, 355 U.S. 184, 191, 78 S. Ct. 221, 2 L. Ed. 2d 199 (1957)). "[The United States Supreme Court] has constantly adhered to the rule that a retrial following a 'hung jury' does not violate the Double Jeopardy Clause." State v. Daniels, 165 Wn.2d 627, 633, 200 P.3d 711 (2009) (citing Richardson v. United States, 468 U.S. 317, 324, 104 S. Ct. 3081, 82 L. Ed. 2d 242 (1984) (citing Logan v. United States, 144 U.S. 263, 297-98, 12 S. Ct. 617, 36 L. Ed. 429 (1892)). Appellate courts review constitutional challenges de novo. Green, 156

Wn. App. at 99 (citing State v. Jones, 159 Wn.2d 231, 237, 149 P.3d 636 (2006)). 32

Defendant's double jeopardy claim should be rejected as meritless because jeopardy did not attach to the challenged controlled substance offense at defendant's first trial. *See* CP 1-3, 51-75, 79-80, 113-115, 136-161; 1RP 123-152; 2RP 165-66, 185-88; 3RP 155; 6RP 525-530; 578-610; 8RP 685-86; 14RP 1133-45. The court proceeded in that trial with three offenses charged in the original information, which did not include the challenged drug offense. 14RP 1134, 1136; CP 1-3. Pursuant to the original information the trial court told the venire defendant was charged with unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree (Count I), violation of a protective order (Count II), and driving while license suspended in the third degree (Count III). 3RP 164-66. The venire was further instructed:

"To all three charges, the defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. The plea of not guilty means that you, the jury, must decide whether the State of Washington has proved every element of these crimes charged.

³² CrR 4.3.1's "mandatory joinder rule is procedural; it does not implicate double jeopardy." *State v. Dallas*, 126 Wn.2d 324, 330-31, 892 P.2d 1082 (1995) (citing State v. Anderson 96 Wn.2d 739, 740, 638 P.2d 1205, cert. denied, 459 U.S. 842, 103 S. Ct. 93, 74 L. Ed. 2d 85 (1982)). The mandatory joinder rule is a rule that prevents prosecutors from charging new offenses to which jeopardy has never attached when they fall under the rule's judicially created definition of a "related offense." *State v. Gamble*, 168 Wn.2d 161, 168-69, 225 P.3d 973 (2010)).

3RP 166. The jury was empaneled and sworn to decide that case. 4RP 188. The State did not pursue the controlled substance offense at trial. 3RP 164-66; 14RP 1138; CP 1-3. At the conclusion of the evidence the jury was instructed on the three offenses contained in the original information and rendered verdicts on counts II and III. 6RP 581; 7RP 664; CP 59 (Count I, Instruction No. 6), 65 (Count II, Instruction No. 12), 67 (Count III, Instruction No. 14), 77-78. A mistrial was declared on Count I. 7RP 659-62, 666. 33

Jeopardy only attached to the firearm,³⁴ protective order,³⁵ and licensing³⁶ at defendant's first trial as those were the only offenses the jury was empaneled and sworn to decide. 4RP 185-88; 14RP 1134; CP 1-3. Jeopardy did not attach to the challenged drug offense until defendant's second jury was empanelled and sworn to decide it. *See* 10RP 803. Defendant's meritless double jeopardy claim should be rejected as it is erroneously based on an inapposite analogy to cases where the government abandoned an offense after jeopardy already attached. *See e.g.* App. Br. at 47.

³³ Defendant was re-arraigned on January 17, 2013, on an amended information. CP 79-80; 9RP 689, 691. When the second trial began on January 24, 2013, and that venire was informed defendant was accused of committing the firearm offense alleged in Count I and the challenged controlled substance offense alleged in Count II. 10RP 771. The empaneled jury was then sworn to decide that case. 10RP 803.

³⁴ RCW 9.41.040(1)(a).

³⁵ RCW 26.50.110(1).

³⁶ RCW 46.20.289.

5. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE CHALLENGED DRUG OFFENSE PURSUANT TO CrR 4.3.1's MANDATORY JOINDER RULE BECAUSE HE FAILED TO TIMELY MOVE FOR CONSOLIDATION AND THE RULE IS INAPPLICABLE TO HIS CASE.

"[P]rosecutors [generally] enjoy broad discretion in making charging decisions, including the discretion to determine what charges to file, when to file them, and generally, whether to amend them." *State v. Waldenberg*, 174 Wn. App. 163, 168, 301 P.3d 41 (2013) (*citing State v. Korum*, 157 Wn.2d 614, 141 P.3d 13 (2006)). CrR 4.3.1 only provides for dismissal for the timing of charges in "a limited set of circumstances." *See State v. Collins*, 30 Wn. App. 247, 249, 633 P.2d 135 (1981).

"CrR 4.3.1 requires mandatory joinder where the crimes are related offenses." *State v. Downing*, 122 Wn. App. 185, 190, 93 P.3d 900 (2004) (*citing* CrR 4.3.1(b); *State v. Lee*, 132 Wn.2d 498, 501, 939 P.2d 1223 (1997)). "Offenses are "related" under the rule "if they are within the same jurisdiction and venue of the same court and are based on the same conduct." *Id.* (*citing* CrR 4.3.1(b)(1); *Lee*, 132 Wn.2d at 501)). Failure to timely move for consolidation of known charges constitutes a waiver under the rule. CrR 4.3.1(b)(3). Denial of a motion to dismiss is reviewed

for manifest abuse of discretion. *See State v. Warner*, 125 Wn.2d 876, 882, 889 P.2d 479 (1995).

a. <u>Defendant waived any claim to mandatory</u> joinder by failing to move for consolidation at his first trial.³⁷

A trial court should grant a defendant's timely motion to consolidate related offenses unless it determines the ends of justice would be defeated if the motion were granted. CrR 4.3.1(b)(2). "[F]ailure to so move constitutes a waiver of any right of consolidation as to related offenses with which the defendant knew he or she was charged." CrR 4.3.1(b)(3).

Defendant was alerted to the challenged charge by at least October 16, 2012. 2RP 149-52; 14RP 1133-45; CP 113-115. He did not move to consolidate it with the three offenses charged in the original information when his first trial resumed on December 10, 2012. 3RP 164-66; 4RP 188; 14RP 1134, 1137-38. He sat on his purported right to consolidation and let that case proceed to verdict on the original counts. 6RP 581; 7RP 659-62,664, 666; CP 59 (Count I, Instruction No. 6), 65 (Count II, Instruction No. 12), 67 (Count III, Instruction No. 14), 77-78. His counsel

³⁷ The trial court did not predicate its denial of defendant's motion on CrR 4.3.1(b)(2)'s waiver provision; however, a trial court may be affirmed on any basis supported by the record and the law. See State v. Kelly, 64 Wn. App. 775, 828 P.2d 1106 (1992) (citing LaMon v. Butler, 112 Wn.2d 193, 200-01, 770 P.2d 1027 (1989)).

later confirmed she was expecting the challenged offense to be put before the jury in the first case and was "shocked" when it was not. 14RP 1138. She relayed the prosecutor informed her "the State had decided not to proceed with the UPCS count." 14RP 1139. Counsel's response was "Fine. If that's what the State wants to do, I'll go along with that." *Id.* Defendant did not raise mandatory joinder until after his first trial resulted in a mistrial on Count I. 9RP 701, 712; 14RP 1138.

The record clearly demonstrates defendant's pre-trial awareness of the challenged charge and decided to take advantage of the State's election to proceed without it in the first trial instead of standing on the right to consolidation claimed on appeal. *See e.g.* 14RP 1139. Any right he had to consolidation was waived at that time. ³⁸

Defendant attempts to avoid the consequences of CrR 4.3.1(b)(2)'s automatic waiver provision by claiming application of the rule somehow

Defendant stood to gain several strategic advantages by allowing the case to go forward without consolidation. Choices made to pursue conceivable trial strategy or tactics demonstrate effective representation even when they do not ultimately prove successful. See State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77-78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). He was able to avoid having the cocaine's proximity to the firearm emphasized in the first trial. Had the firearm count ended in conviction or acquittal, he might have secured a motion in limine precluding reference to the firearm in a subsequent trial for the cocaine. The serious offense that served as a predicate for the firearm charge would have been excluded as irrelevant. Defendant might have bargained to waive an appellate right from the first trial for the State's promise not to pursue the drug offense in a second trial. And there was always a remote possibility the State would just abandon it. The ultimate failure of those potentially favorable outcomes to materialize does not undo the waiver that accompanied defendant's decision not to move for consolidation before the first trial.

unfairly shifts the burden to the defense to urge prosecution of their clients. App. Br. at 44. That argument misunderstands the purpose of CrR 4.3.1, which vests criminal defendants with a conditional right to consolidate related offenses if the defendant perceives consolidation to be in his or her interest. *See* CrR 4.3.1(b)(2); *Gamble*, 168 Wn.2d at 168. It is not uncommon for defendants to perceive consolidation to be disadvantageous. *See e.g.*, *State v. Bryant*, 89 Wn. App. 857, 950 P.2d 1004 (1989) (Bryant claimed he was prejudiced by joinder of robbery and bail jump). Defendant also points out the prosecutor informed his counsel he elected not to proceed with the challenged offense at the first trial without venturing to explain why that statement would operate as a bar to a subsequent prosecution when it cannot be fairly construed as an agreement to abandon the charge in perpetuity. *See* App. Br. at 45. His mandatory joinder claim is procedurally barred. ³⁹

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